BIOGASOLINE SYNTHESIS THROUGH FLUID CATALYTIC CRACKING OF RUBBER SEED OIL - EFFECT OF CATALYST

NURUL SYAFIQAH BINTI ROSLI KE13018 SUPERVISOR: EN. SYAIFUL NIZAM BIN HASSAN

BACHELOR OF CHEMICAL ENGINEERING UNIVERSITI MALAYSIA PAHANG

BIOGASOLINE SYNTHESIS THROUGH FLUID CATALYTIC CRACKING OF RUBBER SEED OIL - EFFECT OF CATALYST

NURUL SYAFIQAH BINTI ROSLI

Thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements For the award of the degree of Bachelor of Chemical Engineering

Faculty of Chemical & Natural Resources Engineering UNIVERSITI MALAYSIA PAHANG

MAY 2017

UNIVERSITI MALAYSIA PAHANG

| Author's Full Name | Nurul Syafiqah Binti Rosli | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Date of Birth | : 15 th De | cember 1994 | | | |
| Title | : Biogasoline Synthesis through Fluid Catalytic | | | | |
| | Cracking | of Rubber Seed Oil (RSO) – Effect of | | | |
| | Catalyst | | | | |
| Academic Session | : Semester | 2 Session 2016/2017 | | | |
| I declared that this thesis | s classified | as: | | | |
| CONFIDENTIAL Secre | (Contains o t Act 1972) | confidential information under the Official * | | | |
| RESTRICTED | (Contains restriction information as specified by the organization where research was done)* | | | | |
| OPEN ACCESS | I agree that my thesis to be published as online open access (Full text) | | | | |
| I acknowledge that Univer | sity Malays | ia Pahang reserve the right as follows: | | | |
| 1. The Thesis is the Prop | erty of Univ | versity Malaysia Pahang. | | | |
| 2. The Library of Univer | sity Malays | ia Pahang has right to make copies for the | | | |
| purpose of research or | nly. | | | | |
| 3. The Library has the ri | ght to make | copies of the thesis for academic exchange. | | | |
| Certified By: | | | | | |
| (Student's Signatur | (Student's Signature) (Supervisor's Signature) | | | | |
| IC Number: 941215-13-6250Name of Supervisor: En. Syaiful Nizam Bin Hassan Date: 25 May 2017 | | | | | |

NOTES: *If the thesis is CONFIDENTIAL or RESTRICTICTED, please attach with the letter from the organization with period and reasons for confidentiality or restriction.

SUPERVISOR'S DECLARATION

We hereby declare that we have checked this thesis and in our opinion, this thesis is adequate in terms of scope and quality for the award of the degree of Bachelor of Chemical Engineering.

| Signature | : |
|-------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Name of main supervisor | : EN. SYAIFUL NIZAM BIN HASSAN |
| Position | : LECTURER |
| Date | : 25 MAY 2017 |

STUDENT'S DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work in this thesis is my own except for quotations and summaries which have been duly acknowledged. The thesis has not been accepted for any degree and is not concurrently submitted for award of other degree

| Signature | : |
|-----------|------------------------------|
| Name | : NURUL SYAFIQAH BINTI ROSLI |
| ID Number | : KE13018 |
| Date | : 25 MAY 2017 |

DEDICATION

By the name of Allah, the most Gracious and the most Merciful

I humbly dedicate my thesis to both of my beloved parents, Rosli Bin Taha & Misbah Binti Mokhtar

> To my supportive supervisor, En. Syaiful Nizam Bin Hassan

To every each of my siblings,

To my fellow friends, Especially the very best friends of mine, Esamudin Bin Musa, Norazuwen Binti Rusli, Jessy Lynn Jaspin,

To all FKKSA's Staffs and lecturers,

Thank you for all your prayers and encouragements all the way.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my supervisor, Encik Syaiful Nizam Bin Hassan .You have been a brilliant mentor for me. I would like to thank you for your never ending support during my tenure as research student under your guidance, for giving insightful comments and suggestions of which without it, my research path would be a difficult one . Your advice on my research has been valuable.

A special thanks to my family. Words cannot express how grateful I am to my mother, father and also my beloved siblings. Your prayer for me was what sustained me thus far.

I am also indebted to the Ministry of Higher Education and Universiti Malaysia Pahang for funding my study.

I would also like to thank all of my friends who supported me in writing, and motivate me to strive towards my goal. I am sincerely grateful to the staffs of Chemical Engineering and Natural Resources Faculty who helped me in many ways and made my stay in UMP pleasant and unforgettable.

Contents

| SUPERVISOR'S DECLARATIONi |
|--|
| STUDENT'S DECLARATIONii |
| DEDICATIONiii |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv |
| TABLE OF CONTENTv |
| LIST OF TABLEvi |
| LIST OF FIGURES |
| LIST OF SYMBOLSviii |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS ix |
| ABSTRAK |
| ABSTRACT |
| CHAPTER 1 |
| INTRODUCTION |
| 1.1 Background of the Study |
| 1.2 Motivation |
| 1.3 Problem Statement |
| 1.4 Objectives |
| 1.5 Scopes of Study |
| CHAPTER 2 |
| LITERATURE REVIEW |
| 2.1 Rubber Seed Oil (RSO) |
| 2.2 Fluid Catalytic Cracking (FCC) |
| 2.3 Cracking catalyst |
| 2.4 Analysis Method |
| CHAPTER 3 |
| 3.1 Materials and Methods |
| 3.2 Method for Catalytic Cracking |
| 3.3 Catalyst's Mass Differences |
| 3.4 Experimental Analysis |
| |
| 4.1 Visual Observation of Distillate |
| 4.1 VISual Observation of Distillate |
| 4.2 Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (OCMS) |
| 4.5 Effect of Cataryst Mass and on the KSO Conversion and Biogasonne Tield |
| CHAPTER 5 |
| CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION |
| 5.1 Conclusion |
| 5.2 Recommendation |
| References |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table No. | Title | Page |
|----------------------|---|------|
| Table 2.1.1: Compo | sition of fatty acid in RSO | 8 |
| Table 2.1.2: Propert | ies of Rubber Seed Oil | 8 |
| Table 2.2: Catalytic | performance from different cracking processes | 10 |
| Table 2.3: Catalytic | cracking of different feedstock for production of biofuel | 10 |
| Table 2.4: The main | component of liquid fuels from RSO | |
| Table 3.1.1: Chemic | cal used in the experiment | |
| Table 3.1.2: Equipm | nent used in the experiment | |
| Table 3.3: Effect of | catalyst:oil (mass) ratio on yield product | |
| Table 4.2.1: Gasolin | ne fraction obtained from GCMS Analysis | 22 |
| Table 4.2.2: List of | retention time for hydrocarbon compound | |
| Table 4.3: Effect of | catalyst mass to the RSO conversion and biogasoline yie | ld24 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure No. | Title | Page |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------|
| Figure 1: Rubber Seed | | 7 |
| Figure 3.2.1: Catalytic cracking | of vegetable oils to produce biofuels | 15 |
| Figure 3.2.2: Catalytic cracking | process using Box-Behnken | 16 |
| Figure 3.2.3: Dean Stark setup for | or catalytic cracking process | 17 |
| Figure 3.2.4: Experimental setup | (Dean Stark apparatus) | 18 |
| Figure 4.1: Sample obtained fror | n Fluid Catalytic Cracking of RSO | 21 |
| Figure 4.3.1: Mass of catalyst vs | . conversion | 25 |
| Figure 4.3.2: Mass of catalyst vs | . Biogasoline yield | 25 |
| Figure 4.3.3: Biogasoline yield v | s. Reaction time | 26 |

LIST OF SYMBOLS

- W₁ Weight of RSO in gram
- W₂ Weight of catalyst in gram
- W₃ Weight of liquid product in gram
- W₄ Weight of residue in gram
- °C Celcius
- % Percentage

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| RSO | Rubber Seed Oil |
|-------|--------------------------------------|
| GCMS | Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry |
| ZSM-5 | Zeolite Socony Mobil–5 |

ABSTRAK

Biogasolin adalah satu penyelesaian alternatif untuk mengurangkan penggunaan bahan api fosil global. Kini, terdapat banyak penyelidikan yang menumpukan penggunaan bahan mentah yang berbeza daripada minyak sayuran untuk menghasilkan biodiesel, akan tetapi, kurang memfokuskan penghasilan Biogasoline. Oleh itu, pendekatan baru untuk menghasilkan Biogasoline diperkenalkan dalam kajian ini dimana minyak biji getah (RSO) digunakan sebagai bahan mentah untuk menghasilkan Biogasoline melalui proses keretakan pemangkin cecair yang menggunakan ZSM-5 sebagai pemangkin. Kaedah ini sesuai dilaksanakan untuk menghasilkan biofuel yang kaya dengan pecahan yang berbeza seperti petrol, minyak tanah dan diesel melalui teknik keretakan pemangkin daripada minyak yang boleh dimakan dan tidak boleh dimakan dan juga ekstrak tumbuhan. Dalam kajian ini, kaedah Dean Stark digunakan sebagai set eksperimen. Kuantiti ZSM-5 dipelbagaikan bermula daripada 0.5 gram hingga 2.0 gram dan dijalankan pada suhu 250 °C. Eksperimen ini dijalankan selama 1 minit, 5 minit dan 10 minit dan sampel yang diperolehi akan dianalisa menggunakan Gas Chromatography. Formula molekul hidrokarbon yang diperolehi daripada analisa sampel akan dibandingkan dengan formula molekul di dalam gasolin standard iaitu di antara C₆ ke C₉. Justeru itu, sampel yang diperolehi daripada proses ini dijangkakan mengandungi sejumlah besar hidrokarbon (% berat) dengan kandungan C_6 ke C_9 . Berdasarkan daripada hasil analisis sampel yang diperolehi melalui eksperimen yang telah dijalankan, keadaan optima untuk mendapatkan hasil biogasolin yang tinggi adalah dengan menggunakan 1.5 gram pemangkin dan 10 gram minyak biji getah dan dijalankan dalam masa lima minit.

ABSTRACT

Biogasoline is an alternative solution towards reducing global fossil fuel consumptions. Currently, there are numerous researches focusing on different feedstock of vegetable oils used to synthesis biodiesel is performed but less is focusing on biogasoline production. Therefore, the new approach to synthesis biogasoline is implemented in this study. Rubber seed oil (RSO) is studied as a feedstock to synthesis biogasoline through fluid catalytic cracking process using ZSM-5 as a catalyst. It is feasible to produce biofuels rich in different fractions such as gasoline, kerosene and diesel via catalytic cracking technique from edible and inedible oils and also plant extracts. In this study, Dean Stark method is applied as experimental set up. The amount of ZSM-5 is varied from 0.5 grams to 2.0 grams at 250°C. The experiment is run at 1 minute, 5 minute and 10 minute and the sample collected will be analyzed using Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry. The molecular formula of hydrocarbon obtained from the analysis of sample will be compared with standard gasoline range which is C_6 to C_9 . Thus, the large the amount of hydrocarbon (wt%) with range of C_6 to C_9 is expected from the sample of product obtained from the fluid catalytic cracking of RSO. Therefore, based from the experiment and analysis of the sample obtained, the optimum condition to obtain the highest yield (58.15%) of biogasoline is using 1.5 g of catalyst and 10 g of RSO at five minutes reaction time.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the Study

Biofuels have become a promising alternative fuel because of their possible environmental benefits and the current concern over the depletion of fossil fuel sources. Biofuels include gaseous fuels and liquid fuels, and usually produced from renewable resources (Ong and Bhatia, 2010). Gaseous biofuels such as methane and hydrogen, as well as liquid biofuels such as biogasoline and biodiesel are primarily used by vehicles. In addition, they are also used for the production of electricity (Ong and Bhatia, 2010).Biofuels can be produced from plant oil based feed stock (vegetable oils and palm oil), waste materials (agriculture, wood, and crop residue), aquatic biomass (algae, and water weed), energy crops (sugar, barley, wheat, etc., containing starch) and forest products (trees, shrubs and wood) (Ong and Bhatia, 2010; Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011;Twaiq et al, 2004; Venderbosch and Prins, 2010; Wang et al., 2015).

Besides, biofuels produced from vegetable oils is considered " CO_2 neutral" since they are from plant sources which remove CO_2 from the atmosphere, and release the same amount when it burnt. Vegetable oils are the most common feed stocks and are converted into liquid fuels due to their high energy capacity, natural liquid-phase material and availability as a renewable feedstock (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011). The use of nonedible plant oils is very important due to the tremendous demand for edible oils as food source. Furthermore, edible oils' feedstock costs are far expensive to be used as fuel (Atabani et al., 2012).

The composition of oil determines the properties of the biofuel obtained. Several types of edible vegetable oils, as well as nonedible oil with a different composition in fatty acids, are consumed for the production of biofuel. However, the direct conversion of edible oil to fuel may not be economically feasible, even though the results have shown its potential

in obtaining liquid hydrocarbons. This is because, continuous and large-scale production of biofuel from edible oil without appropriate planning could cause negative impact on the food supply chain, causing further economic problems. A potential solution to overcome this problem is to utilize waste used cooking oil or non-edible oil (Gui et al., 2008).

Plant oil based feed stock mainly contains triglycerides, which can be easily reformed into liquid biofuels compared to other available biomass containing cellulose and starch (Mushtaq et al., 2016). *Hevea brasiliensis* tree, referred to Rubber tree, belongs to the family Euphorbiaceae (Kumar et al., 2011). It is available mainly in Indonesia, Malaysia, Liberia, India, Sri Lanka, Sarawak, and Thailand. Rubber seed oil is one of the non-edible vegetable oil, which contains 50–60 wt% oil and is considered a promising feedstock for biogasoline production (Ramadhas et al., 2004).

Catalytic cracking is one of the most efficient methods to produce biofuel, especially biogasoline, by cracking of vegetable oil in the presence of suitable catalyst. The catalytic cracking of edible and non-edible oils requires the development of proper cracking catalysts and reactors for the production of biogasoline (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011). The yield of hydrocarbons in catalytic cracking depends on the choice of shape selective catalyst, as well as acidity of the catalyst. In the cracking of vegetable oil, a microporous catalyst is preferred since selectivity of biofuel products such as the gasoline and diesel fractions is produced through the small pores of the catalyst. Besides, zeolites have excellent properties, in terms of high acidity, high thermal stability and excellent selectivity for gasoline production (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011).

1.2 Motivation

In the range of microporous zeolites, the medium pore zeolite catalysts are more effective in the aromatization of the intermediate olefin products compared to those with large pore zeolites. The conversion of canola oil and the overall yield of hydrocarbons decreased as the pore size of catalyst were increased. Also, the medium pore zeolite catalysts are more effective in the aromatization of the intermediate olefin products compared to the large pore zeolites (Katikaneni et al., 1995).

The medium pore size zeolite ZSM-5 gave the best performance among three zeolite catalysts tested in terms of conversion, gasoline and benzene, toluene, and xylene as aromatics yield (Katikaneni et al., 1995). Microporous catalysts such as zeolites, ZSM-5 have shown great potential as cracking catalysts (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011).

1.3 Problem Statement

Based on previous researches, the operating variables affecting cracking activity were feed/catalyst ratio, reaction temperature and weight hour space velocity. A higher reaction temperature and low feed rate gave a higher yield of gaseous product, while at a low reaction temperature and high feed rate deactivated the catalyst faster. The gasoline fraction was one of the desired products, and the optimum operating conditions were determined to maximize its yield (Ooi et al., 2004). This research aims to determine the optimum of feed to catalyst ratio in order to achieve high yield of biogasoline from rubber seed oil.

1.4 Objectives

The following is the objective of this research:

- To determine the optimum amount of catalyst (ZSM-5) in fluid catalytic cracking process of biogasoline synthesis from rubber seed oil.
- To determine the yield of biogasoline and correlate the yield and conversion kinetics with amount of catalyst used.
- To optimize the temperature of fluid catalytic cracking of RSO for biogasoline synthesis with effects of residence time of reaction.

1.5 Scopes of Study

The following are the scope of this research:

- The cracking temperature is fixed while amount of catalyst and oil is varied at 0.5 g to 2.0 g and the reaction time is varied at 1 minute, 5 minute and 10 minute.
- 2) Analyzing cracked RSO using GCMS with comparison using commercial gasoline and standard gasoline components as controls.
- Determination on conversion kinetics (conversion rate) affected from varies amounts of catalyst.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Rubber Seed Oil (RSO)

RSO is a promising feedstock for biogasoline production which is extracted from rubber seed of rubber tree. On 2009 Malaysian Rubber Board has reported that Malaysia has an estimated acreage of 1,229,940 hectares of rubber plantation producing an estimated average of more than 1.2 million metric tons of rubber seeds per year (Eka et al., 2010). Based on an estimated average of 1000 kg seeds per ha/ yr, the projected annual production of rubber seeds in Malaysia would be 1.2 million metric tons. Despite Malaysia being a major rubber growing country, to date, there is a dearth of information on the chemical composition of the Malaysia rubber seed. According to Bressani *et al* (1983), the rubber seed kernel (hull has been removed) contains 29.6% fat and 11.4% protein. Thus, it is estimated that Malaysia wastes about 355,200,000 kg fat and 136,800,000 kg protein per year. The rubber seed consist of about 40% kernel with 20-25% moisture, where approximately 40-50% of oil is found in the dried kernel which contributes to 20 million liters of oil annually (Gimbun et al., 2012).



Figure 1 Rubber Seed (Ramadhas A. S. et al., 2005)

According to research performed by Eka et al., oil extracted from Malaysia's rubber seeds was 68.53%. This value is comparable to those of palm oil which stands at 45-50%, indicating that it can be a promising source of biodiesel production (Jibrail et al., 2008). Based on its fatty acids composition, rubber seed oil is rich in unsaturated fatty acid (oleic acid, linoleic and linolenic)

| | | | - | | - | | | |
|---------|--------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| Fatty | <i>C</i> _{16:0} | <i>C</i> _{18:0} | <i>C</i> _{20:0} | C _{18:1} | <i>C</i> _{18:2} | C _{18:3} | <i>C</i> _{18:4} | <i>C</i> _{20:2} |
| acid | | | | | | | | |
| Content | 8.8 | 7.7 | Trace | 24 | 36.1 | 20.2 | 0.8 | 1.5 |
| (%) | | | | | | | | |

Table 2.1.1 Composition of fatty acid in RSO (Pan, 2000)

 Table 2.1.2
 Properties of Rubber Seed Oil (Li et al., 2014)

| Properties | RSO |
|---------------------------------------|-------|
| Density, $kg/m^3(20^{\circ}C)$ | 926 |
| Viscosity at 20°C, mm ² /s | 58.6 |
| Acid value (mg KOH/g oil) | 25.6 |
| Calorific value, MJ/kg | 37.5 |
| Cetane number | 40 |
| Iodine value, g/100g | 135.3 |
| Flash point, °C | 242 |

2.2 Fluid Catalytic Cracking (FCC)

According to Chuaykleang and Ratanawilai (2014), catalytic cracking involves a conversion process which converts high molecular weight oil components to lower molecular weight by using catalyst. This unit is the most widely used process for the conversion of heavy fraction of crude oil into high-value products (e.g. diesel, gasoline). This unit operates under high temperatures (> 400°C) and pressure close to the atmospheric in the absence of hydrogen and the presence of an acid catalyst. Catalytic cracking of plant

oils, animal fats, and recycled cooking greases can be applied to produce biofuels which suitable for gasoline engines that contain linear and cyclic paraffins, olefins, aldehydes, ketones, and carboxylic acids (Huber and Corma, 2007). Besides, catalytic cracking process is favorable to produce biofuel rich in different fractions (gasoline, diesel and kerosene) from edible and non-edible oils (Sharma and Bakhshi, 1991; Chew and Bhatia, 2008). Fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) is one of the major conversion technologies in the oil refinery industry and produces the majority of the world's gasoline. According to Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia (2011), catalytic cracking is favorable in producing gasoline, and also reduces the yield of heavy fuel oils and light gases at much lower temperatures compared to thermal cracking. So far, several methods to produce biofuels from vegetable oils is available at petroleum refineries, such as pyrolysis (thermal cracking), fluid catalytic cracking, hydrotreating and hydrocracking reaction.

FCC is the most favorable among those methods. Firstly, the temperature of catalytic cracking process (450°C) is lower than pyrolysis (500–850°C) (Chew and Bhatia, 2008). In the cracking process, the reaction temperature applied is lower than pyrolysis (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011). According to Huber and Corma (2007), compared to hydrotreating and hydrocracking, the significances of catalytic cracking include that no H_2 is needed, atmospheric processing reduces operating cost, and the temperatures employed are similar to those used in the production of bio-oil. Besides, FCC also considered as a cheaper route in terms of energy consumption, by converting feedstock to lighter fractions that mostly fall in the gasoline boiling range (Zhang et al., 2005).

However, although catalytic cracking is known as a cheaper route, poor yields and quality of hydrocarbons and high yields of coke (8–25 wt %) may be obtained (Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011). According to Tamunaidu and Bhatia (2006), in order to increase the gasoline yield and simultaneously reduce the yields of coke, many researchers found that short contact times (SCT) between the catalyst and oil vapors and high temperatures are favorable. The cracking reaction takes place on cracking catalysts with short residence time (\sim 20 s).

| Process | Catalytic | Hydrocracking | Hydrotreating |
|-------------------------------------|-----------|---------------|---------------|
| | cracking | | hydrocracking |
| Conversion (%) | 100.0 | 94.9 | 89.2 |
| Isopara. selectivity (%) | 15.2 | 34.3 | 89.7 |
| Olefins selectivity (%) | 57.6 | 25.6 | 5.0 |
| Aromatic selectivity (%) | 26.0 | 39.6 | 0 |
| Average number of Carbon cracked | 10.1 | 9.6 | 10.8 |

 Table 2.2 Catalytic performance from different cracking processes (Kimura et al., 2012)

2.3 Cracking catalyst

The activities of different catalysts for the cracking of RSO were studied. However, zeolites remain the best catalysts for the cracking of oils, due to their high thermal stability, good shape-selective properties resulting from their microcrystalline structures, and their ability to concentrate reactants inside their pores (Bhatia, 1990; Emst et al., 1999).

| Feedstock | Catalyst | Product, Yield (Highest) | | | | |
|----------------|-----------|--------------------------|----------|--------|-------|-------|
| | | Biogasoline | Kerosene | Diesel | Gases | Coke |
| | | (wt%) | (wt%) | (wt%) | (wt%) | (wt%) |
| Palm Oil | HZSM-5 | 49.2 | 26.1 | 2.6 | 8.2 | 1.7 |
| (Twaiq et al., | Composite | 48.4 | 8.8 | 7.0 | 11.4 | 5.4 |
| 2004) | material | | | | | |
| Used Palm Oil | MCM-41/ | 28.9 | 15.9 | 12.3 | 13.4 | 10.7 |
| (Ooi et al., | zeolite | | | | | |
| 2004) | beta | | | | | |
| Palm Oil | SBA-15 | 20.7 | 15.5 | 4.8 | 9.5 | 7.2 |
| based waste | Al-SBA | 36.0 | 17.2 | 4.6 | 16.2 | 6.3 |
| fatty acid | Al-MCM- | 32.6 | 20.0 | 6.7 | 6.7 | 9.8 |
| (Ooi et al., | 41 | | | | | |
| 2004) | | | | | | |
| Soybean Oil | Ultra- | 22.9 | NR | 15.0 | 6.2 | 5.2 |
| (Tian et al., | Y/ZSM-5 | | | | | |
| 2008) | | | | | | |

 Table 2.3 Catalytic cracking of different feedstock for production of biofuel

All the studies related to palm oil is conducted under condition pressure of 1 atm, temperature of 450°C, and WHSV of 2.5 h^{-1} while the soybean oil studies is performed at temperature between 500 °C to 520 °C, residence time of 1.4 s to 1.7 s and 6 to 8 catalyst/feed ratio under continuous mode. Ibanez et al. (2014) stressed the activity for biogasoline production from palm oil in the order: HZSM-5 \approx MCM-41/ZSM-5 > MCM-41. Other than that, HZSM-5 produced the highest yield in cracking of canola oil than aluminum-pillared clay, silicate, silica–alumina H–Y, and H-mordenite catalysts (Katikaneni et al., 1995). Therefore, acidity of HZSM-5 which triggers product distribution during the cracking reaction influenced the activity of HZSM-5 and MCM-41/ZSM-5. Equally, the activity and selectivity of HZSM-5 towards biogasoline fraction form crude and used palm oil were higher than microporous Zeolite Beta.

2.4 Analysis Method

Gas chromatography (GC) is one of the most widely used techniques in modern analytical chemistry. In its basic form, GC is used to separate complex mixtures of different molecules based on their physical properties, such as polarity and boiling point. It is an ideal tool to analyse gas and liquid samples containing many hundreds or even thousands of different molecules, allowing the analyst to identify both the types of molecular species present and their concentrations. Gas Chromatography (GC) also offers a precise and efficient method for biofuels analysis. To identify the hydrocarbon content of the biogasoline, GC-MS analysis was performed (Nasikin et al., 2009).Based from the research done by Li et al. (2014), the liquid fuels and gas products resulted from the cracking of RSO were analyzed by Gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) and the results are summarized in table.

| Catalyst | Liquid fue | Yield of Liquid Product | |
|---------------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|------|
| | Components | Content (%) | (%) |
| USY | 1,3- Octadiene | 14.9 | 75.6 |
| | 1-Octylene | 13.6 | |
| | Octane | 15.2 | |
| | Nonane | 30.1 | |
| Na ₂ CO ₃ | Nonane | 5.5 | 73.3 |
| | Decane | 5.4 | |
| | Dodecane | 10.1 | |
| | 1-Tridecylene | 16.3 | |
| | Cetane | 8.6 | |

Table 2.4 The main component of liquid fuels from RSO (Li et al., 2014)

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials and Methods

| | - |
|-----------------|--|
| Material | Purpose |
| Rubber Seed Oil | To be cracked during catalytic cracking process |
| ZSM-5 | To be used as catalyst in catalytic cracking process |
| n-pentane | Used as carrier solvent in GC analysis |
| Cooling water | Act as a cooling agent |

 Table 3.1.1 Chemical used in the experiment

| Table 3.1.2 Equ | uipment u | used in the | experiment |
|------------------------|-----------|-------------|------------|
|------------------------|-----------|-------------|------------|

| Equipment | Purpose | | |
|--------------------|--|--|--|
| Gas | Analyse different substances within the test | | |
| Chromatography | sample | | |
| Dean stark | Allow vapours from the reaction which contains | | |
| | the reaction solvent travel out of reaction flask up | | |
| | into the condenser | | |
| Heating mantle | Allow adjustable temperature | | |
| Stirrer bar | To ensure perfect mixing | | |
| Spherical reaction | To contain RSO and catalyst. It also acts as a | | |
| flask | medium that allow reactions between these two | | |
| | materials occur. | | |
| Condenser | Condense substance from gaseous state to liquid | | |
| | state | | |

The experiment will follow the procedure as follows:



3.2 Method for Catalytic Cracking

Currently, there are numerous setup of apparatus or experimental method used by previous researchers for catalytic cracking of vegetable oils to biofuel.

Based on studies conducted by Nurjannah et al. (2013), the catalytic cracking was carried out in a fixed bed microreactor at temperatures between 350 to 500 °C and N_2 flow rates within range of 100 to 160 mL/min for 120 min involving palm oil. From the studies, it was found that at 450°C and N2 flow rate of 100mL/min resulted in the highest yield of gasoline fraction of 28.87 %, 16.70 % kerosene and 1.20 % diesel oil. The HZSM-5 catalyst is used in the catalytic cracking process.



Figure 3.2.1 Catalytic cracking of vegetable oils to produce biofuels (Nurjannah et al., 2013)

The catalytic cracking was performed in a microreactor filled with approximately 1 g of a catalyst bed and the reactor was sealed with a heating element. Firstly, palm oil was fed to a feed tank which has been heated at 350°C. At the same time, nitrogen was also fed to the feed tank at flow rates between 100 to 160 mL/min. Oil vapour and nitrogen was then flow to the fixed bed reactor which was already heated to a desired temperature within 350°C to 500°C. The products were measured in a GC.



Figure 3.2.2 Catalytic cracking process using Box–Behnken (Chuaykleang & Ratanawilai, 2014)

Based on Figure 3.2, the Box-Behnken design was used in the investigation to study the effect of reaction parameters such as temperature, nitrogen flow rate and weight of catalyst on yield of gasoline-range products involving refined palm oil. This study involves two reactors for catalytic cracking, where the refined palm oil will be feed to the first reactor and the second reactor act as medium for catalytic cracking reaction. Firstly, the refined palm oil is fed to the first reactor for heating process. Next, the oil in liquid phase was allowed to evaporate to gas phase and ready for cracking. The oil in gas phase is carried to second reactor by nitrogen gas and weight of HZSM-5 catalyst was varied within range of one to five gram. When the reaction completed, the gas product leaving the reactor were cooled to 313 K in the condenser system, while the organic liquid product (OLP) were collected in glass liquid sampler at room temperature. Last but not least, OLP was kept while the benzene and isooctane were analysed using GC.

Last but not least, another experimental setup for catalytic cracking is carried out using Dean Stark apparatus. First of all, the right size of heating mantle is used so that it fits snugly around the still pot. A reflux condenser is attached to the top of the Dean Stark apparatus, where the water is going in at the bottom and out at the top of the condenser. Dean Stark enables the determination of fluid saturation in a core sample by virtue of a solvent vaporization and condensation process. This method relies on the miscibility to oil and immiscibility to water of solvents such as toluene. In this experiment, n- pentane is used as a carrier solvent. Initially, the mixture is placed in a still pot connected at the bottom to an externally heated, solvent-containing flask and to a fluid separation system at the top. By heating the system, the in-situ water vaporizes, condenses in the condenser tube and is collected in a graduated receiver. The vaporized solvent also condenses, soaks the sample, and extracts the oil, which falls into the solvent flask. The experiment continues until the extracted solvent displays its original colour. The sample is then oven dried and weighed again. The weight measurements (saturated core, dry core, produced water) can be inputted into the mass balance equation to deduce the produced oil volume. The apparatus consists of a distillation/extraction glassware unit and a heating mantle with thermostatic controller. Flexible plastic tubing connects the condenser to the water cooling unit.

Figure 3.2.3 Dean Stark setup for catalytic cracking process (www.img.photobucket.com)

In this work, the amount of the heat supplied was well controlled by the temperature of the heating mantle, fitted with the lab scale reactor. At the same time, catalysts were added to lower the activation energy of the cracking process. The presence of catalysts reduced the energy needed to crack long-chain hydrocarbons and thus products were formed in a more energy-efficient way.

Therefore, Dean Stark apparatus is chosen as the experimental set up for this study due to its simplicity in term of east to be set up, easy to be handled, besides it provide sufficient accuracy and relatively cheap and officially sactioned for many applications (Torsaeter and Abtahi, 2000).

Figure 3.2.4 Experimental Setup (Dean Stark apparatus)

3.3 Catalyst's Mass Differences

For this experiment, the main focus is to study the effect of catalyst:oil ratio on the yield of product. The reaction is allowed at fixed temperature of 250°C .On the other hand, mass of catalyst is varied at interval of 0.5 g. The purpose is to study the optimum catalyst to oil ratio to obtain highest yield of biogasoline from catalytic cracking of RSO by applying Dean Stark Method.

According to study conducted by Li et al. (2014), the yield of product changes as ratio of catalyst to oil varies. The result of the study is tabulated in a table.

| Catalyst/RSO | Temperature | Time | Vield of liquid |
|--------------|-------------|-------|------------------|
| Catalyst/K50 | remperature | TIME | i icia oi iiquia |
| (mass) | (°C) | (min) | product (%) |
| 1:30 | 400 | 120 | 66.3 |
| 1:40 | 400 | 120 | 70.4 |
| 1:50 | 400 | 120 | 71.8 |
| 1:60 | 400 | 120 | 61.6 |
| 1:70 | 400 | 120 | 58.8 |

 Table 3.3 Effect of catalyst:oil (mass) ratio on yield of product

Based on the result, when the ratio m(cat):m(RSO) is 1:50, the liquid product obtained reaches the highest yield which is 71.8%. However, as the ratio of m(cat):m(RSO) increases further at 1:60 and 1:70, the yield of product decreases due to occurring of side reactions such as deep cracking of RSO. Thus, according to Li et al. (2014), the optimum ratio m(cat):m(RSO) is 1:50.

Previous studies conducted by Chuaykleang and Ratanawilai (2014) also concern on the effect of catalyst to oil ratio on the yield of product. The catalytic cracking process is conducted using HZSM-5 as a catalyst. This study is performed under fixed temperature of 475 °C and varies weight of catalyst ranging from one gram to five grams. From the result, as the weight of catalyst introduce to the reaction increases, yield of product increases. However, when further

increase of catalyst weight is applied, the yield of product decreases. Therefore, amount of catalyst is directly affecting catalytic cracking reaction. As the reaction used higher catalyst weight, the long chain hydrocarbon was broken to small hydrocarbon. When the reaction use more amount of catalyst, some hydrocarbon was cracked in smaller hydrocarbon than gasoline range(less than benzene and isooctane range).

3.4 Experimental Analysis

Catalytic cracking of RSO was carried out using Dean Stark method at temperature 250°C, and varies catalyst to oil ratio. The RSO and catalyst were allowed to react in the spherical reaction flask with continuous heating from the heating mantle. RSO was cracked and vaporized. The vapor flow up to the condenser and condensed to liquid phase. Then, the liquid product was weighed and analyzed using GC. The conversion (wt%) of RSO and yield (wt%) for bio-oil is calculated using formula as follows:

Conversion (%) = $[(W_1 + W_2 - W_4) / W_1] \times 100\%$ Yield (bio oil) (%) = $W_3 \div W_1 \times 100\%$

Where :

 W_1 = Weight of RSO (g) ; W_3 = Weight of liquid product (g) W_2 = Weight of catalyst (g) ; W_4 = Weight of residue (g) (Zhiping and Shitao, n.d.)

CHAPTER 4

RESULT AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Visual Observation of Distillate

From all the 12 runs that has been performed, it was observed that the product from the cracked rubber seed oil was formed in two or three immiscible layers after condensation inside the dean stark. Both layers were discarded separately using 2 sample-collecting vials and labelled. The dark brown colour of the top layer represented the short-chain fatty acids, whereas the gold bottom layer represented the liquid hydrocarbon substance that hypothetically considered as saturated hydrocarbons. This is because during the cracking process, the long-chain triglycerides were broken either one or more places in every single chain.

Figure 4.1 Sample Obtained from Fluid Catalytic Cracking of Rubber Seed Oil (RSO)

4.2 Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GCMS)

The sample collected from FCC of RSO is analysed using GCMS by taking n-pentane as the standard solution. One sample is analysed for 40 minutes. GCMS analysis is conducted to determine the composition of gasoline in the sample obtained. The result or chromatogram obtained from the analysis is interpreted and tabulated in Table 4.2.1.

| No. of | Mass of | Reaction | Gasoline |
|--------|--------------|----------|----------|
| run | catalyst (g) | Time | Fraction |
| | | (minute) | (%) |
| 1 | 0.5 | 1 | 84.84 |
| 2 | 1.0 | 1 | 21.77 |
| 3 | 1.5 | 1 | 12.11 |
| 4 | 2.0 | 1 | 55.11 |
| 5 | 0.5 | 5 | 69.84 |
| 6 | 1.0 | 5 | 67.77 |
| 7 | 1.5 | 5 | 83.53 |
| 8 | 2.0 | 5 | 55.16 |
| 9 | 0.5 | 10 | 60.52 |
| 10 | 1.0 | 10 | 74.07 |
| 11 | 1.5 | 10 | 74.48 |
| 12 | 2.0 | 10 | 78.6 |

Table 4.2.1 Gasoline fraction obtained from GCMS Analysis

In order to determine the gasoline fraction, the chromatogram is analysed by using the list of average retention time obtained for each component as shown in Table 4.2.2. However, the average retention time stated was only the approximation; the main priority was the retention time range itself. From Table 4.2.2, it could be considered that, all the components between 2.54 until 7.08 minute were considered as biogasoline. Whereas all the components below 2.54 minute were considered as biogasoline and all the components those exceed 7.08 minute were considered as biogasoline and all the components those exceed 7.08 minute were considered.

| Compound Name | Compound | Retention | |
|----------------------|--|---------------|--|
| | Formula | time (minute) | |
| 1-Hexene | $C_{6}H_{12}$ | 2.54 | |
| Hexane | $C_{6}H_{14}$ | 2.62 | |
| Cyclopentene,1- | C_6H_{10} | 3.19 | |
| methyl- | | | |
| 1-Heptene | $C_7 H_{14}$ | 3.66 | |
| Heptane | $C_7 H_{16}$ | 3.79 | |
| Cyclohexane, methyl- | $C_{7}H_{14}$ | 4.22 | |
| Cyclohexene,1- | $C_7 H_{12}$ | 4.92 | |
| methyl | | | |
| 1-octene | $C_8 H_{16}$ | 5.21 | |
| Octane | <i>C</i> ₈ <i>H</i> ₁₈ | 5.36 | |
| Cyclohexane,ethyl- | $C_{8}H_{16}$ | 6.04 | |
| Cyclohexene,1,2,- | $C_{8}H_{14}$ | 6.61 | |
| dimethyl- | | | |
| 1-Nonene | $C_{9}H_{18}$ | 6.93 | |
| Nonane | $C_{9}H_{20}$ | 7.08 | |

Table 4.2.2 List of retention time for hydrocarbon compound

According to the standard procedure of GC analysis method on fluid organic samples, the quantity of sample taken for GC analysis was very small (5.0 μ l mixed with 1500.0 μ l GC-grade n-pentane), and then followed with 1.0 μ l mixture injected into GC column, the possibilities of the resulting yield differentiation could occur. For example, the 3rd experiment run (10 g RSO, 1.5 g catalyst, 250 °C, one minute of cracking) yielded 12.11%, but this yield would change if the same sample was reanalyzed 2nd time onwards with lower yields, either slight lower or far lower than 12.11%. This was because the cracked molecules moved randomly and independently in the "huge space" among n-pentane molecules, so not all the cracked molecules were sipped and injected together. Generally, the yield resulted directly correlated with the amount of sipped and injected cracked molecules during overall GC analysis.

4.3 Effect of Catalyst Mass and on the RSO Conversion and Biogasoline Yield

| Run | Catalyst | Other | Result obtained in % | | |
|-----|----------|---------------|----------------------|---------|----------------|
| | mass in | parameters | Converted | Liquid | Gasoline yield |
| | gram | | RSO | product | in RSO |
| 1 | | 250°C, 1 min | 26.47 | 10.78 | 9.05 |
| 5 | 0.5 | 250°C, 5 min | 70.3 | 38.6 | 26.96 |
| 9 | | 250°C, 10 min | 98.02 | 47.52 | 28.76 |
| 2 | | 250°C, 1 min | 28.43 | 3.92 | 0.85 |
| 6 | 1.0 | 250°C, 5 min | 37.25 | 48.04 | 32.56 |
| 10 | | 250°C, 10 min | 38.83 | 58.25 | 43.15 |
| 3 | | 250°C, 1 min | 45 | 8 | 0.97 |
| 7 | 1.5 | 250°C, 5 min | 94.12 | 69.61 | 58.15 |
| 11 | | 250°C, 10 min | 78.21 | 55.45 | 41.29 |
| 4 | | 250°C, 1 min | 50 | 9 | 4.96 |
| 8 | 2.0 | 250°C, 5 min | 96 | 64 | 35.3 |
| 12 | | 250°C, 10 min | 69.61 | 53.92 | 42.4 |

Table 4.3 Effect of catalyst mass to the RSO conversion and biogasoline yield.

Table 4.3 represents the effects of catalyst mass for each run on rubber seed oil conversion, liquid product condensate formed and biogasoline yield obtained. From the table, 1.5 g catalyst used at five minutes reaction time showed the highest yields of biogasoline in RSO, which is 58.15%. The result also showed that RSO conversion was obviously affected by the masses of catalyst used. **B**ased from the result, the reaction time also effect the RSO conversion and biogasoline yield as shown by run 1,2,3 and 4 with the lowest conversion of 26.47%, 28.43%, 45% and 50% respectively at one minute reaction time. For experiments run at catalyst mass of 0.5 g and 1.0 g, the result trend show the increasing conversion is achieved as the reaction time is longer. However, for experiments run at catalyst mass of 1.5 g and 2.0 g, the conversion is decreasing after five minute reaction time.

Figure 4.3.1 Mass of Catalyst vs. Conversion

Eventhough highest conversion of 98 % was achieved when the amount of catalyst used is 0.5 g, the yield of biogasoline is lower compared to experiment run using 1.5 g of catalyst. This is because the percentage of liquid product condensed from the experiment using 0.5 g of catalyst is also lower than 1.5 g of catalyst. Low conversion resulted lower biogasoline yield. The yield was affected by the lower percentage of liquid product condensed. This was caused by the opening spaces between the catalyst particles, the reaction surface and voids among the catalyst, and the limitation of heat supply, period and space of recombining and isomerizing cracked molecules.

Figure 4.3.2 Mass of Catalyst vs. Biogasoline Yield

Figure 4.3.2 shows that three line are plotted represents the biogasoline yield (g) at different catalyst mass (g) at different reaction times (minute). The highest peak shows the highest yield of biogasoline. From Figure 4.3.1, the experiment run using 1.5 g of catalyst at five minutes reaction time gave the highest peak represent the highest yield of biogasoline. When the amount of catalyst used are 0.5 g, 1.0 g, 1.5 g and 2.0 g, the average biogasoline yield are 2.18 g, 2.19 g, 3.02 g and 2.78 g respectively. This shows that the highest yield was achieved when the mass of catalyst used is 1.5 g.

Figure 4.3.3 Biogasoline Yield vs. Reaction Time

Figure 4.3.3 represents the relationship between the reaction time and biogasoline yield. It was shown that the shorter reaction time was not enough to crack RSO at maximum amount, but the longer duration would also increase the gaseous products of that conversion. This was because both liquid product and biogasoline yield obtained were lower for ten minutes cracking than for five minutes cracking. In overall, all those parameters affected the overall results obtained, thus the overall results obtained were parallel.

From the result shown in Table 4.3, the liquid product obtained did not fully follow the RSO conversion because the conversion itself produced various multi-phase products. However, it was agreed that low conversion resulted lower yields, for example, for 1.0 g catalyst used at one minute reaction time. This situation occurred due to opening spaces between the catalyst particles, the reaction surface and voids among the catalyst, and the limitation of heat supply, period and space of recombining and isomerizing cracked molecules.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

5.1 Conclusion

In conclusion, the mass of catalyst and reaction time affect the conversion of RSO and biogasoline yield through fluid catalytic cracking (FCC) process. The reason why FCC is selected for this experiment is due to the temperature of catalytic cracking process (450° C) is lower than pyrolysis ($500-850^{\circ}$ C) (Chew and Bhatia, 2008) which later supported by Taufiqurrahmi and Bhatia, 2011 whom stated that in the cracking process, the reaction temperature applied is lower than pyrolysis According to Huber and Corma (2007), compared to hydrotreating and hydrocracking, the significances of catalytic cracking include that no H₂ is needed, atmospheric processing reduces operating cost, and the temperatures employed are similar to those used in the production of bio-oil. Besides, FCC also considered as a cheaper route in terms of energy consumption, by converting feedstock to lighter fractions that mostly fall in the gasoline boiling range (Zhang et al., 2005). Then,Dean Stark apparatus is chosen as the experimental set up for this study due to its simplicity in term of east to be set up, easy to be handled, besides it provide sufficient accuracy and relatively cheap and officially sactioned for many applications (Torsaeter and Abtahi, 2000).

Experimentally, it is proven that the mass of catalyst at 1.5 g shows the highest yield of biogasoline whereas the highest conversion of RSO is achieved at catalyst mass of 0.5 g. Eventhough the highest conversion is achieved, however the gasoline yield is lower. Thus, in this study, the optimum condition to achieve the highest yield of biogasoline is using 1.5 g of catalyst and 10 g of RSO at 250 °C for duration of five minutes. According to the previous study, there are a lot of sources and catalyst used to synthesis biogasoline. However, there is none of the research done yet to study the effect of catalyst, ZSM-05 on biogasoline synthesis. Thus, this research is considered worth to be studied.

5.2 Recommendation

There are a few recommendations have to be taken into consideration in order to improve this research. The parameters of this study should be widen so it will provides clearer view about this research. Secondly, the use of heating mantle in this research should be replaced with oven to improve the extraction process and also the catalytic cracking process. This is because, when using the heating mantle, the heat supplied to the process is difficult to be maintained at desired temperature. Thus, it will affect the result of the process as temperature is one of significant parameter in order to obtain a high yield of biogasoline

References

- A.E. Atabani a,n, A.S. Silitonga a,b,n , H.C. Ong a , T.M.I. Mahlia c , H.H. Masjuki a , Irfan Anjum Badruddin a , H. Fayaz a, "Non-edible vegetable oils: A critical evaluation of oil extraction, fatty acid compositions, biodiesel production, characteristics, engine performance and emissions production", Renewable and Sustainable Energy, vol. 18, 2013,pp. 211–245
- Asuquo JE, Anusiem ACI, Etim EE. Extraction and characterization of rubber seed oil. Int J Modern Chem 2012;1(3):109–15
- Bezergianni S, Kalogianni A, Vasalos IA. Hydrocracking of vacuum gas oil vegetable oil mixtures for biofuels production. Bioresour Technol,2009;100:3036–42.
- Bhatia S. Zeolite catalysis principles and applications. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press; 1990.
- Chew TL, Bhatia S. Catalytic processes towards the production of biofuels in a palm oil and oil palm biomass-based biorefinery. Bioresource Technology, 2008;99(17):7911–22.
- Demirbas A. Biodiesel production from vegetable oils via catalytic and noncatalytic supercritical methanol transesterification methods. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2005;31:466–87.
- Eberly Jr PE, Kimberlin Jr CN, Miller WM, Drushel HV. Coke formation on silica-alumina cracking catalysts. Ind Eng Chem Process Des Dev 1966;5:193–8.
- Ebewele RO, Iyayi AF, Hymore FK. Considerations of the extraction process and potential technical applications of Nigerian rubber seed oil. Int J Phys Sci 2010;5(6):826–31.
- Emst S, Bongers T, Casel C, Munsch S. Cesium-modified mesoporous molecular sieves as basic catalysts for Knoevenagel condensations. Stud Surf Sci Catal 1999;125:367–74.
- Fabbri D, Bevoni V, Notari M, Rivetti F. Properties of a potential biofuel obtained from soybean oil by transmethylation with dimethyl carbonate. Fuel ,2007;86:690–7.
- G. W. Huber and A. Corma, Synergies between bio- and oil refineries for the production of fuels from biomass, Angew. Chem.,Int. Ed., 2007, 46, 7184–7201,.
- H. D. Eka, Y. Tajul Aris and W. A. Wan Nadiah, "Potential use of Malaysian rubber (Hevea brasiliensis) seed as food, feed and biofuel," International Food Research Journal, vol. 17, pp. 527-534, 2010.

- Ibanez M, Artetxe M, Lopez G, Elordi G, Bilbao J, Olazar M, et al. Identification of the coke deposited on an HZSM-5 zeolite catalyst during the sequenced pyrolysis–cracking of HDPE. Appl Catal B 2014;148:436–45.
- J. Gimbun, S. Ali, C. C. S. C. Kanwal, L. A. Shah, N. H. M. Ghazali, C. K. Cheng and S. Nurdin, "Biodiesel Production from Rubber Seed Oil Using A Limestone Based Catalyst," Advances in Materials Physics and Chemistry, vol. 2, pp. 138-141, 2012.
- Katikaneni SPR, Adjaye JD, Bakhshi NN. Catalytic conversion of canola oil to fuels and chemicals over various cracking catalysts. Canadian J Chem Eng 1995;73:484–97.
- Kimura T, Liu C, Li X, Maekawa T, Asaoka S. Conversion of isoprenoid oil by catalytic cracking and hydrocracking over nanoporous hybrid catalysts. J Biomed and Biotechnol 2012.
- M. M. Gui, K. T. Lee and S. Bhatia, Feasibility of edible oil vs. nonedible oil vs. waste edible oil as biodiesel feedstock, Energy, 2008, 33, 1646–1653, DOI: 10.1016/j.energy.2008.06.002.
- N. Taufiqurrahmi, S. Bhatia, "Catalytic cracking of edible and nonedible oils for the production of biofuels", Energy Environ. Sci., vol. 4, 2011, pp. 1087-1112
- Ooi YS, Zakaria R, Mohamed AR, Bhatia S. Hydrothermal stability and catalytic activity of mesoporous aluminum-containing SBA-15. Catalysis Communications 2004;5(8):441–5.
- Ooi YS, Zakaria R, Mohamed AR, Bhatia S. Synthesis of composite material MCM-41/beta and its catalytic performance in waste used palm oil cracking. Applied Catalyst A: General 2004;274(102):15–23.
- Pan SPZLH. Study on the exploitation and utilization of edible rubber seed oil. China Oils Fats 2000;25(6):114–5.
- Ramadhas AS, Jayaraj S, Muraleedharan C. Biodiesel production from high FFA rubber seed oil. Fuel ,2004,vol.84, pp 335–40.
- S. P. R. Katikaneni, J. D. Adjaye and N. N. Bakhshi, Catalytic conversion of canola oil to fuels and chemicals over various cracking catalysts, Can. J. Chem. Eng., 1995, 73, 484–497,
- S. Zhang, Y. Yan, T. Li and Z. Ren, Upgrading of liquid fuel from the pyrolysis of biomass, Bioresour. Technol., 2005, 96, 545–550.
- Sharma RK, Bakhshi NN. Upgrading of tall oils to fuels and chemicals over HZSM-5 using various diluents. The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering,1991;69(5):1082–6.

- Suarez PAZ, Moser BR, Sharma BK, Erhan SZ. Comparing the lubricity of biofuels obtained from pyrolysis and alcoholysis of soybean oil and their blends with petroleum diesel. Fuel ,2009;88:1143–7.
- Tian H, Li C, Yang C, Shan H. Alternative processing technology for converting vegetable oils and animal fats to clean fuels and light olefins. Chinese J Chem Eng 2008;16:394–400.
- Twaiq FA, Mohamed AR, Bhatia S. Performances of composite catalysts in palm oil cracking for the production of liquid fuels and chemicals. Fuel Processing Technology 2004;85(11):1283–300.
- Twaiq FA, Zabidi NAM, Mohamed AR, Bhatia S. Catalytic conversion of palm oil over mesoporus aluminosilicate MCM-41 for the production of liquid hydrocarbon fuels. Fuel Processing Technology 2003;84(1–3):105–20.
- Widayat W, Kiono BFT. Ultrasound assisted esterification of rubber seed oil for biodiesel production. Int J Renew Energy Develop 2012;1:1–5.
- Y. S. Ooi, R. Zakaria, A. R. Mohamed and S. Bhatia, Catalytic conversion of palm oil-based fatty acid mixture to liquid fuel, Biomass Bioenergy, 2004, 27, 477–484,
- Zabaniotou A, Ioannidou O, Skoulou V. Rapeseed residues utilization for energy and 2nd
generationFuel2008;87:1492–502.